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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the year ended 30th June 2022
Performance
Total Net Assets as at 30th June 2022
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share as at
30th June 2022
MSCI World Index as at 30th June 2022

USD
Investor
Class
$39,660,538

USD
Advisor
Class
$11,231,212

EUR
Investor
Class
€1,141,379

GBP
Investor
Class
£8,320,901

$305.86

$158.32

€ 251.82

£264.73

7,755.25

-

-

-

%

%

%

%

(6.6)

(7.1)

5.7

6.2

Percentage change during the year
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share
MSCI World Index

(14.3)

-

-

-

$

$

€

£

High

390.12

202.31

296.07

302.72

Low

304.01

157.61

225.03

237.08

USD
Investor
Class

USD
Advisor
Class

EUR
Investor
Class

GBP
Investor
Class

$56,451,154

$13,039,985

€1,046,410

£11,630,605

$327.41

$170.33

€238.34

£249.57

Net Asset Value Per Participating Share

For the year ended 30th June 2021
Performance
Total Net Assets as at 30th June 2021
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share as at
30th June 2021
MSCI World Index as at 30th June 2021

9,053.33

-

-

-

%

%

%

%

Net Asset Value Per Participating Share

31.0

30.4

24.1

17.5

MSCI World Index

39.0

-

-

-

$

$

€

£

High

346.67

180.42

245.06

258.10

Low

242.56

126.61

179.36

197.49

USD
Investor
Class

USD
Advisor
Class

EUR
Investor
Class

GBP
Investor
Class

$45,597,472

$10,753,624

€7,533,885

£14,660,029

$249.91

$130.66

€192.01

£212.43

Percentage change during the year

Net Asset Value Per Participating Share

For the year ended 30th June 2020
Performance
Total Net Assets as at 30th June 2020
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share as at
30th June 2020
MSCI World Index as at 30th June 2020

6,511.10

-

-

-

%

%

%

%

(5.1)

(5.6)

(4.0)

(2.8)

2.8

-

-

-

Percentage change during the year
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share
MSCI World Index
Net Asset Value Per Participating Share

$

$

€

£

High

299.52

156.96

232.26

241.91

Low

205.79

107.74

165.07

183.70
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT 2022
The Fund’s USD Investor Class returned -6.6% in the year to 30th June 2022, significantly outperforming the -14.3% return
of its benchmark, the MSCI World Index. The Fund’s return includes an almost 10% write down to the value of its Russian
securities – of which we will elaborate later.
Our investment approach is relatively simple: we buy decent businesses, for substantially less than we think they are worth,
run by management who are on our side, meaning we should have limited downside if our thesis is wrong.
Let us consider each:
Decent businesses
A common misconception of Value investing is that it entails buying staid, ex-growth companies, or buying “bombed-out”
shares because it is contrarian. Our approach does neither: we seek out companies whose business conditions are
improving and which are forecast to grow earnings – on financial metrics which are often used to gauge the quality of a
business, such as trailing twelve months (TTM) sales growth, TTM operating margin or TTM Return on Equity, our portfolio’s
metrics are comparable to the MSCI World Index’s basket of 1,600 companies.
For substantially less than they are worth
Fund management is awash with the terms “Value” and “Growth”, but we think the dichotomy is something of a red herring
as we all want companies which will grow earnings. Where we differ from many of our peer funds – and particularly those
that had flourished for several years until the start of 2022 – is that we acquire them at what we consider the right valuation.
As such, on financial metrics which gauge the valuation of a share price, Ranmore Global Equity Fund plc trades at a
substantially lower price-to-forward earnings multiple and price-to-book than the MSCI World Index, and a higher dividend
yield.
Management on our side
Very rarely do we engage with investee companies’ management. Their track records can do the talking. We consider
management to be on our side when they both astutely deploy capital and do not destroy shareholder value through
employee-enrichment schemes.
Limited downside if our thesis is wrong
If we buy a share on a multiple of 10x earnings and its share price halves, we now hold a share on 5x earnings. Contrast
this to a share on 35x earnings – a halving of its share price results in a share which still trades at an above market average
multiple.
In summary, we try to invest like a rational astute businessperson. It is an approach that we have persevered with because
we think it makes sound investment sense.
In the context of what we have just described, let us turn to some of our Fund performers. The largest contributor to Fund
performance was Thungela Resources (+2.4%). Thungela is a South African thermal coal exporter that was demerged from
Anglo American. Upon listing, its shares fell as it seems that when some Anglo shareholders received their Thungela
scrip, they discarded it without reference to the price, which provided us an opportunity to acquire these shares at a very
attractive price. In terms of valuation: at spin-off, Thungela had a market cap of R3bn, but it also had net cash of R3bn.
Including conservative long-term environmental provisions, you were at worst only paying R7bn for a business that earned
R1.9bn of EBITDA in the 6 months to June 2021, at a time when coal prices were rising.
Or the Fund’s second largest contributor: pharma company Pfizer (+1.7%). When we purchased Pfizer in July 2021, it had
underperformed the World Index since prior to COVID-19. It was as if COVID-19 had never happened and yet here was a
company with 50% of the economic benefits of one of main mRNA vaccines for a maximum total payment to BioNTech of
$0.75bn. Pfizer was only priced on 11 times forward earnings. This of course included a meaningful contribution from its
COVID-19 vaccine but even assuming no vaccine contribution, we calculated we were buying a company growing midsingle digits on 16x forward earnings.
Finally, let us turn to a current top 10 position, Brazilian oil giant, Petrobras. Petrobras contributed 1.2% to Fund
performance in the year-ended 30th June 2022. Brazilian politics no doubt contributes to the depressed valuation, but we
see a company which is trading of just 3x free cash flow (and real free cash flow, in our view), pays quarterly dividends and
generates its earnings and cash at a Brazilian-government imposed price of $70/barrel. Should global oil prices fall from
above $100/barrel, it should have no impact on Petrobras’s profitability until oil falls below $70/barrel.
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT 2022 (continued)
As the Fund was down 6.6% for the year, there were clearly some detractors, but the bulk of the negative return came from
two sources: currencies and our Russian securities. The weakening of the Yen, Euro and Pound together detracted 7.4%
from performance – the Fund is overweight Europe and Japan equities relative to the World Index, and the value of those
investments, when measured in the Fund’s base currency of USD, detracted from Fund performance. The largest detractor
was the fall in value of the Fund’s American Depositary Receipts and Global Depositary Receipts (together “DRs”) of Russian
companies. Seemingly like many senior military persons in the Russian army, we did not think President Putin would invade
Ukraine. Very sadly, he did. Subsequently, there was a precipitous fall in the value of our Russian holdings prior to the
London Stock Exchange suspending their trading on 2nd March 2022. In total, the Russian holdings cost the Fund 9.9% in
the year-ended 30th June 2022. The DRs are in the process of being converted into underlying Russian-listed shares of those
companies. As we write, the conversion process has been halted due to the EU’s blanket sanctioning of assets under the
control of Russia’s securities settlement system, the NSD. Russia has also introduced temporary measures to prevent
foreigners selling Russian securities. We remain confident that, in time, both the NSD and sale bans will be lifted and the
Fund will be able to realise the value of the Russian shares. At year-end, they were valued in the portfolio at the last, firesale price of the DRs (equating to 0.8% of Fund Net Asset Value). Were they valued at prevailing prices in Russia, they would
equate to 12% of NAV (at the time of writing).
One can never be sure, but had the Fund not incurred the write down of its Russian securities, it would have outperformed
the MSCI World Index by more than 17 percentage points. Being Value investors has been a testing time for many years,
up to the end of 2021, as investor money poured into US technology stocks. Over those lean years for Value investors –
essentially unabated since the Global Financial Crisis of 2008 – we consistently wrote about why we think paying the right
price for a share is an integral part of future returns (“well bought is half sold”), how we thought the valuations of highflying, investment community favourites had reached metrics beyond credulity and how, when the investment thesis on
those stocks fractures, their share prices can revert quickly. In some cases, this has materialised as evidenced by the
following share price declines, measured in USD, in the year to 30th June 2022: PayPal -76%; Meta (Facebook) -54%; Nvidia
-24%; Netflix -67%. Can PayPal quadruple to get investors back to where they were? Or Meta double? Or Netflix more than
triple. Having looked at their numbers, we think not and actually think they still do not offer compelling valuations.
What is the reason for the reversal of those share prices?
Market commentators will cite that the prevailing narrative in 2021 shifted in early 2022 from one where inflation was seen
as transitory to one where inflation was seen as persistently stubborn. The market inferred that would require frequent
and material interest rate rises from Central Banks in order to cool inflation. In low interest rate environments, investors
were prepared to pay a premium for the forecasted future earnings of tech companies. When interest rates are rising, the
discounted value of those earnings is lower and investors are not prepared to pay as much. Possibly, but we think
commentators often ascribe reasons after events. Our view is that their share prices were priced for perfection and hugely
decoupled from their earnings forecasts. Interestingly, the theory of Central Banks intervening changed once again in the
latter part of the Fund’s financial year, replaced instead by fears that a global recession would put pay to inflation – resulting
in investors dumping shares en masse, particularly Value ones. Although cognisant of market thoughts, we don’t subscribe
to them, not least because they require second guessing what everyone else is thinking and capital swarming from one
sector to another. Rather, irrespective of market narratives, we focus on buying decent businesses, for substantially less
that we think they are worth, run by management who are on our side. We think there are plenty of opportunities like
Thungela and Petrobras out there and we are very excited by those opportunities.

August 2022

We thank you for your support,

Ranmore Fund Management Ltd.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their eleventh report and financial statements for the Company as a UCITS (Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) for the financial year from 1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022.

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and the Companies Act, 2014.
Irish Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. Under Company law,
the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at the financial year end date and of the profit or loss of the
Company for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act, 2014.
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

State whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards,
identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards;
and

•

Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they believe they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records
which correctly explain and record the transactions of the Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and Directors’ Report comply with the Companies Act, 2014, IFRS as adopted for use in the European
Union, the European Communities Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities Regulations 2011, as
amended (the “UCITS Regulations”) and enable the financial statements to be audited. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities. Under the UCITS Regulations, the Directors are required to entrust the assets of the Company to
the Depositary for safe-keeping. In carrying out this duty, the Directors have delegated custody of the Company’s assets to
Société Générale S.A, acting through its Dublin branch. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Risk Management Objectives and Policies
An investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk including, but not limited to, the risks as outlined in the
Prospectus. The investments in the Company are only suitable for investors who are in a position to take such risk. There
can be no assurance that the Company will achieve its objective and the value of the shares can go down as well as up. The
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company are market risk, which reflects changes in economic conditions
affecting the value of investments and includes foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk, all of
which are outlined in Note 15.
The Company is currently permitted to market in the UK. The Investment Manager has submitted on behalf of the
Company, a notification under the UK Financial Conduct Authority’s Temporary Permissions Regime, thereby enabling the
Company to continue to market in the UK. In due course, the Company will be allocated a ‘landing slot’ by the FCA, which
is the period when the Company can apply for non-temporary permission.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
Following the UK’s departure from the EU, the UK and the EU have yet to agree a comprehensive agreement with respect
to financial services. In particular, limited progress has been made with respect to the EU recognising the UK’s financial
services regulatory framework as ‘equivalent’ to the EU’s. An equivalence decision permits non-EU financial services firms
to offer certain services within the EU. The Board continues to monitor negotiations between the EU and the UK, but there
is currently no direct impact on the Company. In the context of the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), the
European Commission has adopted an adequacy decision with respect to the UK which means personal data can flow
freely from the EU to the UK as it benefits from an essentially equivalent level of protection to that guaranteed under EU
law.
At the time of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, the Company held American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”)
of three Russian issuers: Gazprom, Surgutneftegaz and Sberbank; and the Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs) of a fourth
company: X5 Retail. For many years, the ADRs and GDRs of certain Russian issuers have been traded on foreign exchanges.
They were held in safekeeping/custody by the Depositary’s sub-custodians in the US and Europe. On 3rd March 2022, the
London Stock Exchange suspended the trading of the ADRs and GDRs in order to maintain orderly markets.
In April 2022, Russia adopted a law which effectively requires Russian issuers to delist/terminate their depositary
programmes. Depositary Receipt holders were entitled to receive Russian-listed shares underlying those depositary
receipts (“DRs”). The Company opted to convert its DRs into underlying local shares. This was to be facilitated by a formal
market corporate event for the Euroclear-held DRs, and a settlement operation directly between our sub-custodian and
the conversion agent(s) for the US-held DRs.
Due to EU sanctions of 3rd June 2022, which affected assets under the control of the securities settlement system of Russia,
the National Settlements Depositor (NSD), it was not possible for the agent to complete/deposit any conversions at
Depositary’s Russian sub-custodian, Rosbank, as settlement was widely blocked at the NSD level in Russia.
As at the date of signing, the conversion of DRs into underlying shares has yet to complete. However, the Company remains
aware of developments which may facilitate such conversions. In addition, Russia has introduced measures which restrict
foreign investors’ ability to trade Russian-listed shares. In the event that its DRs are converted into underlying shares, the
Company continues to monitor any changes that would enable the sale of such shares.
The DRs are valued at the last traded price prior to their suspension from trading on 3rd March 2022. As at 30th June 2022,
they comprised 0.74% of the net asset value of the Company. Should they have been valued at the price of the underlying
Russian-listed shares, they would have comprised 13.0% of the net asset value of the Company.
At the date of signing the financial statements, they continue to be valued at the last traded price prior to their suspension
of trading. They comprise 0.82% of the net asset value of the Company, based on the last published Company net asset
value prior to signing the financial statements. Should they be valued at the price of the underlying Russian-listed shares,
they would comprise 14.5% of the Company’s net asset value, based on the last published Company net asset value prior
to signing the financial statements.

Directors’ Statement on Adequate Accounting Records
To ensure compliance regarding the keeping of accounting records in accordance with the requirements of Section 281 to
285 of the Companies Act, 2014, the Directors of the Company have employed accounting personnel with appropriate
expertise. The Company’s financial records are maintained by Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, 2nd Floor, Block 5, Irish
Life Centre, Abbey Street Lower, Dublin 1, D01 P767, Ireland.

Transactions involving Directors
In respect of the year, the Directors are not aware of any contracts or arrangements of any significance in relation to the
business of the Company in which the Directors or their connected persons had any interest as defined by the Companies
Act 2014, other than those disclosed in Note 10, “Related Party Disclosure and Fees Disclosure”.

Place of Incorporation
Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC was originally incorporated in Jersey on 26th June 2008 and was registered in Ireland by
way of continuation, as an open-ended investment company on 29th September 2011.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Significant Events
Please refer to Note 21 ‘Significant Events’.

Events after the financial year

Refer to Note 22 ‘Events after the financial year’.

Corporate Governance Statement
The Board voluntarily adopted the 'Corporate Governance Code Collective Investment Schemes and Management
Companies' as published by the Irish Funds Industry Association in December 2011 (the "CGC") as the Company‘s new
corporate governance code with effect from 31st December 2012. The Board has assessed the measures included in the
CGC as being consistent with its corporate governance practices and procedures for the financial year 1 st July 2021 to 30th
June 2022 inclusive.

Principal Activity
The Company has been authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland under the UCITS Regulations. At 30th June 2022 there
was one standalone fund in existence: the Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC.

Investment Objective
To seek to outperform the MSCI World Index, a free float-adjusted market capitalization weighted index that is designed
to measure the equity market performance of developed markets (Bloomberg Ticker: NDDUWI Index), and to provide
capital growth over a medium to long-term time horizon.

Investment Strategy
The Investment Manager’s approach is a bottom up, “value based” research driven stock picking methodology applied to
companies which are forecast to grow earnings over the medium to long term. Under normal circumstances, the Company
will invest in companies with one or more of the following characteristics:
• An above average return on assets when compared to companies in the MSCI World Index
• Forecast to grow earnings over the medium to long-term
• A history of generating free cash flow
• Strong balance sheet
• Attractive valuation suggesting appreciation potential
The Company will comprise a diversified portfolio of primarily large and mid-sized companies from a range of industry
sectors and geographic regions. This relatively concentrated approach means that the position size of the average holding
will be greater than for a broadly diversified portfolio. This is to ensure that the return from investment opportunities is
maximised and not diluted away by an over-diversified portfolio. In seeking to meet its investment objective, the Company
may, from time-to-time, hold substantial cash balances. Investment in emerging markets equities is limited to no more
than 20% of the Company's net assets.
The Company may borrow up to 10% of its net assets but only for the purpose of the redemption of Shares.

Investment Restrictions
The assets of the Company must be invested in accordance with the restrictions on investments set out in the UCITS
Regulations and such additional investment restrictions, if any, as may be adopted from time to time by the Directors such
as those described in the investment objective and investment strategy of the Company above.

Connected Persons
A connected person means the management company or depositary to a UCITS; and the delegates or sub-delegates of
such a management company or depositary (excluding any non-group company sub-custodians appointed by a
depositary); and any associated or group company of such a management company, depositary, delegate or sub-delegate.
The term “Connected Persons” was introduced to replace the term “Connected Parties” with the introduction of the Central
Bank UCITS regulations 2019. Any transaction carried out by a connected person with the Company must be carried out
as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions must be in the best interests of the shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Connected Persons (continued)
The Board of Directors of the Responsible Person is satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written
procedures) in place, to ensure the obligations set out in the Central Bank UCITS regulations 2019 are applied to all
transactions with connected persons; and the Board of Directors is satisfied that transactions entered into during the
financial year complied with the obligations set out in the Central Bank UCITS regulations 2019.

Stock Lending
There was no stock lending during the financial year.

Management Arrangements
The Directors listed overleaf are responsible for overseeing the business affairs of the Company. The Directors have
delegated the management of the assets and investments of the Company to the Investment Manager. The Directors have
delegated the day-to-day administration of the Company's affairs, shareholder registration and transfer agency duties,
including the calculation of the Net Asset Value and the Net Asset Value per Share, to the Administrator.

The Investment Manager
The Company has appointed Ranmore Fund Management Limited as the Investment Manager. Ranmore Fund
Management Limited was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 18 th January 2008. It is authorised by the UK Financial
Conduct Authority ("FCA").
The Investment Manager serves as investment manager to the Company, pursuant to an Investment Management
Agreement.

The Administrator
The Company has appointed Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited to act as Administrator and Transfer Agent of the
Company, pursuant to the Administration Agreement, initially dated 29th September 2011 and updated on 1st September
2014, with responsibility for performing the day-to-day administration of the Company and providing related fund
accounting services (including the calculation of the Net Asset Value of the Company and the Net Asset Value per Share).
Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited was incorporated in Ireland as a private limited company on 26th January 2007.

The Depositary
The Company has appointed Société Générale S.A, acting through its Dublin branch, as depositary of its assets pursuant
to the Depositary Agreement, dated 1st August 2018. The Depositary is a branch of Société Générale S.A., a French public
limited company founded in 1864 and which is one of France's leading commercial and investment banking institutions
with operations throughout the world and with its head office at 29, Boulevard Haussmann, 75009 Paris, France. The
Depositary is registered with the Paris Trade and Companies Register under number 552 120 222, is an establishment
approved by the French Prudential Control and Resolution Authority (ACPR) and supervised by the French Financial
Markets Authority (AMF).
Société Générale S.A. is actively engaged in asset management, private banking and corporate and investment financial
services throughout the world. Société Générale S.A. provides global custody services to retail, institutional, industrial and
corporate clients.

Auditors
The auditors, Mazars, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, continue in office in accordance with Section 383(2)
of the Companies Act 2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors and Company Secretary
The Board who held office for the entire financial year from 1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022 are listed below:
Sean Philip Peche
John Skelly (Independent of the Investment Manager)
Lesley Williams (Independent as defined by the Corporate Governance Code)
Sean Philip Peche is not entitled to receive Director’s fees from the Company.
Sean Philip Peche has a direct interest in the Company worth $78,750 and an indirect interest worth $558,751 as at 30th
June 2022. None of the other Directors held any shares of the Company as at 30th June 2022 or at any time during the
financial year.
The Company secretary throughout the financial year was Intertrust Management Ireland Limited.

Results and State of Affairs
The Statement of Financial Position as at 30th June 2022 and the results for the year are set out on pages 15 and 16
respectively. A detailed performance review of the business is included in the Investment Manager’s Report.

Dividends
There have been no dividends declared during the financial year ended 30th June 2022.

Going Concern
The Directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, they have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Statement on Relevant Audit Information
There is no relevant audit information of which the statutory auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all steps that
they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and they have established that the
statutory auditors are aware of the information.

Section 167 – Establishment of an Audit Committee
The Company has elected not to establish an audit committee as per Section 167(2)(b) of the Companies Act 2014 given
the following reasons:
(a) the nature, scale and complexity of the Company's business range of services and activities undertaken in the course
of that business;
(b) the financial controls already adopted by the Company, as per the Central Bank's requirements, in respect of internal
controls, internal audit and risk management (each of which are documented in the Company's UCITS Business Plan);
(c) the resources available to the Company and the resources and expertise of the various third parties engaged to support
the Company and carry out certain functions on its behalf; and
(d) the procedures in place for the review, approval and circulation of the audited financial accounts and statements which
are appropriate for a self-managed investment company such as the Company, pursuant to the UCITS Regulations.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC (‘the Company’), for the
year ended 30 June 2022, which comprise Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the Company
financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the
European Union (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2021
(as amended).
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements:
▪
▪
▪

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 30
June 2022 and of its result for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014,
and the European Union (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations, 2021 (as amended).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.
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Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to note 21 of the financial statements, which describes the Significant events that
occurred during the year, specifically with reference to the invasion of Ukraine by Russia. We note
that at the time of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, the Company held American
Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) of three Russian issuers: Gazprom, Surgutneftegaz and Sberbank, and
the Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs) of a fourth company, X5 Retail.
In April 2022, Russia adopted a law which effectively requires Russian issuers to delist/terminate their
depositary programs. Depositary Receipt holders were entitled to receive Russian-listed shares
underlying those depositary receipts (“DRs”). The Company opted to convert its DRs into underlying
local shares. This was to be facilitated by a formal market corporate event for the Euroclear-held DRs,
and a settlement operation directly between our sub-custodian and the conversion agent(s) for the
US-held DRs.
Due to EU sanctions of 3rd June 2022, which affected assets under the control of the securities
settlement system of Russia, the National Settlements Depositor (NSD), it was not possible for the
agent to complete/deposit any conversions at Depositary’s Russian sub-custodian, Rosbank, as
settlement was widely blocked at the NSD level in Russia.
As at the date of signing, the conversion of DRs into underlying shares has yet to complete. However,
the Company remains aware of developments which may facilitate such conversions. The DRs are
valued at the last traded price prior to their suspension from trading on 3rd March 2022. As at 30th
June 2022, they comprised 0.74% of the net asset value of the Company.
These Russian securities are classified as Level 3 Fair Value at year end, as there were no directly
observable market prices available from active markets for identical assets.
Our opinion is not modified in this respect.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:
▪
▪
▪
▪

the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements;
the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be
readily and properly audited; and
the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.
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We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief,
are necessary for the purposes of our audit.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the directors' report.
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the requirements of any of
Sections 305 to 312 of the Act, which relate to disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions
are not complied with by the Company. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement out on page 4, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework that give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Irish
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority's website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b23890131cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of
the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Michael Tuohy
for and on behalf of Mazars
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm
Harcourt Centre, Block 3
Harcourt Road
Dublin 2
Date: 12 September 2022
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Depositary’s Report to the Shareholders of Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC
We have enquired into the conduct of the company for the financial period ended 30 June 2022 in our capacity
as Depositary to the company.
This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the shareholders in the company as a
body, in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings
for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (“Central Bank UCITS Regulations”) and
the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations
2011, as amended (“UCITS Regulations”) and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown.
Responsibilities of the Depositary
Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations and Part 12 of the Central Bank
UCITS Regulations. One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the company in each annual accounting
period and report thereon to the Shareholders.
Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the company has been managed in that period, in accordance
with the provisions of the company’s Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS Regulations. It is the overall
responsibility of the company to comply with these provisions. If the company has not so complied, we as
Depositary must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have taken to rectify the situation.
Basis of Depositary Opinion
The company has been managed, in all material respects, during the financial year in accordance with the
provisions of its Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS Regulations, including specifically the provisions
relating to the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the company.
Opinion
In our opinion, the company has been managed during the period, in all material respects:
(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the company by its
Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS Regulations; and
(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation (IOI).
On behalf of the Depositary,

______________________________
Société Générale S.A. (Dublin Branch)
07 September 2022

Tel: +353 (0) 1 675 0300
Fax: +353 (0) 1 675 0351
www.socgen.com

Société Générale
Société Anonyme au capital de:
576 285 895.00 Eur
29 boulevard Haussmann
75009 Paris
France
552 120 222 R.C.S.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF
REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES
For the year ended
30th June 2022
USD

For the year ended
30th June 2021
USD

86,815,826

82,994,560

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
shares at the start of the year
Issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemption of redeemable participating shares

3,066,698

4,525,935

(23,456,343)

(21,887,460)

(4,203,839)

21,182,791

62,222,342

86,815,826

(Decrease)/increase in net assets from operations attributable to
holders of redeemable participating shares
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
shares at the end of the year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended
30th June 2022
USD

For the year ended
30th June 2021
USD

(Decrease)/increase in net assets from operations attributable to
holders of redeemable participating shares

(4,203,839)

21,182,791

Decrease/(increase) in financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

24,670,806

(7,203,517)

1,895,100

(1,273,323)

Cash flows from operating activities

Decrease/(increase) in receivables
(Decrease)/increase in payables

(1,948,587)

1,787,321

Net cash inflow from operating activities

20,413,480

14,493,272

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares

3,066,698

4,525,935

Payments for redemptions of redeemable participating shares

(23,451,641)

(21,887,460)

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(20,384,943)

(17,361,525)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

28,537

(2,868,253)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the reporting year

741,322

3,609,575

Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting year

769,859

741,322

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Corporate Information
Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC was originally incorporated in Jersey on 26th June 2008 and was registered in Ireland
under registration number C88951 by way of continuation, as an open-ended investment company and authorised as a
UCITS by the Central Bank pursuant to the UCITS Regulations 2011 as amended. In accordance with the requirements of
the Central Bank, shares may be divided into different Classes to accommodate different subscriptions and/or redemption
charges and/or charges and/or dividend and/or fee arrangements. Separate pools of assets will not be maintained for each
Class.

Share Class Name

Date Launched

Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC - USD Investor Class

8th October 2008

Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC - USD Advisor Class

26th January 2011

Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC - EUR Investor Class

30th June 2010

Ranmore Global Equity Fund PLC - GBP Investor Class

30th June 2010

Dealing
The day on which Shares may be subscribed or redeemed being the first business day following the relevant valuation
point or such other days as determined by the Directors from time to time provided that there shall always be at least one
such day per fortnight and Shareholders are notified in advance. Dealing currently takes place every business day.

Objective
The Company’s investment objective and strategy is described in the Report of the Directors on page 6. The Company has
no employees.

2. Accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation and statement of compliance
The audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30th June 2022 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and Irish
Statute comprising of the Companies Act 2014, the European Communities Undertakings for Collective Investment in
Transferable Securities Regulations 2011, as amended (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the Central Bank (Supervision and
Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) UCITS Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”). The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ
from those estimates.

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires the Directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The
Directors believe that the estimates utilised in preparing the financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.
The financial statements include the performance and position of the underlying Share Classes. The financial statements
reflect the aggregated figures of the Share Classes in issue at the end of the financial year.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in the accounting policies overleaf.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Classification

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has designated its investments in equity securities and financial derivative
instruments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Company has designated all of its investments upon initial recognition as “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss”. Their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the risk management and investment
strategies of the Company, as set out in the Company’s Prospectus.

(ii) Recognition
All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised using trade date accounting, the day that the
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. From this date any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities are recorded. Regular way purchases, or sales, are purchases and sales of financial
assets that require delivery of the asset within a time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

(iii) Measurement

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(iv) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
where:
- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
- Either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.
The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(v) Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. If an asset or liability measured at fair
value has a bid and an ask price, the price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value in the
circumstances shall be used to measure fair value regardless of where the input is categorized within the fair value
hierarchy. The use of bid prices for asset positions and ask prices for liability positions is permitted, but not required. The
bid-ask spread has been considered and it is not material to the accounts.
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted closing market prices at the Statement of Financial Position
date without any deduction for estimated future selling costs.
Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following fair value hierarchy
levels based on the significance of the inputs used in measuring its fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
(v) Fair value measurement principles (continued)

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the reporting entity has the ability
to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability
occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 inputs are inputs that are not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on
the instrument’s valuation.
An investment is always categorised as level 1, 2 or 3 in its entirety.

(vi) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position if, and only if,
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(b) Foreign currency translations

The functional currency of the Company is USD, (as the Directors have determined that this reflects the Company’s primary
economic environment). The presentation currency of the Company is also USD. Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to USD at the foreign currency closing exchange rate ruling at the
Statement of Financial Position date.
Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to USD at
the foreign currency exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were determined. Foreign currency exchange
differences relating to investments at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments are included in
gains and losses on investments. All other foreign currency exchange differences relating to monetary items, including
cash are presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. Foreign currency monetary assets
and liabilities, including financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are translated into the
functional currency of the Company at the closing exchange rate at the end of the financial year.

(c) Gains and losses
Any foreign exchange gains/(losses) on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as part of the ‘Net (loss)/gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and foreign exchange’. This item also includes realised and unrealised gains and
losses on financial assets designated upon initial recognition as ‘held at fair value through profit or loss’ and excludes
interest and dividend income and expense.
Realised gains and losses arising on the disposal of financial instruments classified as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’
are calculated by reference to the proceeds received on disposal and the actual cost attributable to those instruments, and
are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. Unrealised gains and losses comprise
changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the financial year and from the reversal of the prior period’s unrealised
gains and losses for financial instruments which were realised in the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Due to and due from brokers
Amounts due to brokers are payables for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been contracted for
but not yet delivered at the end of the financial year. They are recognised and measured as financial liabilities other than
those classified as fair value through profit or loss.
Amounts due from brokers are receivables for securities sold (in a regular way transaction) that have been contracted for
but not yet delivered at the end of the financial year. They are recognised and measured at amortised cost.

(e) Distribution policy of the Company

The Directors anticipate the predominant source of return in respect of each of the USD Investor Class, the USD Advisor
Class, the GBP Investor Class and the EUR Investor Class to be through capital growth and do not expect investment income
(net of expenses) to be significant. As such the Directors do not intend to declare any dividends.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant changes in value. Cash held for the Company is held by
Société Générale S.A (Dublin Branch) as Depositary and by Interactive Brokers to fund its margin account with that
institution to facilitate the purchase of exchange-traded index put options.

(g) Interest revenue and expense
Interest income and interest expense are accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised in the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(h) Dividend revenue
Dividends on quoted equity securities are taken into account on the ex-dividend date. The ex-dividend date is the date that
the market price of the security is reduced to reflect the amount of dividend (that is, securities traded on that date do not
include rights to the upcoming dividend payment). Where no ex-dividend date is quoted, they are brought into account
when the Company’s right to receive payment is established. Income is shown in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income gross of any imputed tax credits and presented gross of any withholding taxes deducted at source
which is disclosed separately in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(i) Fees
All fees are recognised on an accruals basis.

(j) Transaction costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial
asset. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of a
financial instrument and is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(k) Redeemable participating shares

All Shares issued by the Company provide the investors with the right to require redemption for cash at the value
proportionate to the investor’s share in the Company’s net assets at the redemption date. Redeemable participating shares
are shown as liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Changes in significant accounting policies
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2021
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)
The amendments address reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows
or hedging relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate.
The amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements in IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 relating to:
– changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities; and
– hedge accounting.
There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 January 2021 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Company.

New or revised accounting standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective for the period ended
30th June 2022.
The standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective are disclosed below, except for those
standards which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, will clearly not impact the Company. The Company intends to
adopt these standards, where applicable, when they become effective.

Description
Amendments to IFRS 3 – Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets:
Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements and Practice Statement 2:
Disclosure of accounting policies
Amendments to IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors:
Definition of accounting estimate

Effective for accounting
period beginning on or
after
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2023
1 January 2023

3. Directors’ and Auditors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration in respect of the financial year is as follows:

Directors’ remuneration
- Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by Directors in
respect of qualifying services

For the year ended
30th June 2022
USD

For the year ended
30th June 2021
USD

38,062

42,080

Auditors’ remuneration for work carried out for the Company in respect of the financial year is as follows:

Auditors’ remuneration*
- Audit of Company accounts
- Tax preparation services

For the year ended
30th June 2022
USD

For the year ended
30th June 2021
USD

18,719

18,752

8,363

10,707

*There were no other amounts incurred for other assurance services, tax advisory services or non-audit services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
4. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Listed equity securities at trading valuation
Listed derivative securities at trading valuation
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 30th June 2022
USD

As at 30th June 2021
USD

61,310,783

85,839,894

-

141,695

61,310,783

85,981,589

5. Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and foreign exchange
For the year ended
30th June 2022
USD

Profit or Loss

For the year ended
30th June 2021
USD

Listed and unlisted equity securities and options:
- Realised gains on equities

18,570,906

24,402,950

- Realised losses on options

(1,360,250)

(3,621,170)

- Unrealised (loss)/gain on equities

(19,534,575)

1,011,008

- Unrealised gain/(loss) on options

748,915

(300,065)

(3,737,992)

(721,901)

(5,312,996)

20,770,822

- Net foreign exchange losses on realised and unrealised equities
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and foreign exchange

6. Prepayments
As at 30th June 2022
License fee

As at 30th June 2021

USD

USD

15,293

14,416

Directors’ fees

5,765

-

Secretarial fees

5,494

6,077

MLRO fees

4,275

-

Prepaid liquidity stress testing fee

3,288

3,676

Directors' insurance

2,499

1,629

Prepaid regulatory fees

1,827

-

Prepaid listing fee

1,267

-

Prepaid beneficial ownership register fee
MSCI GICS sector fees
Total prepayments

7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank - Interactive Brokers

329

-

-

1,229

40,037

27,027

As at 30th June 2022
USD

As at 30th June 2021
USD

6,859

16,831

Cash at bank - Société Générale

763,000

724,491

Total cash and cash equivalents

769,859

741,322

8. Shares in issue
As at 30th June 2022
Number of shares

Authorised share capital
Subscriber’s shares of USD1.00 each
Shares of no par value

24 of 49

As at 30th June 2021
Number of shares

2

2

500,000,000

500,000,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
8. Shares in issue (continued)
Redeemable Participating Shares

As at 30th June 2022

As at 30th June 2021

Number of shares

Number of shares

172,417.8964

182,457.2531

6,443.2850

10,871.9711

USD Investor Class
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year

-

279.9261

Shares redeemed during the year

(49,190.5162)

(21,191.2539)

Total Shares in issue at the end of the year

129,670.6652

172,417.8964

76,557.7645

82,301.8986

Shares switch in during the year

USD Advisor Class
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year

2,580.2848

2,489.1896

Shares redeemed during the year

(8,199.2277)

(7,697.7121)

Shares switch out during the year

-

(535.6116)

70,938.8216

76,557.7645

4,390.4902

39,237.4325

Shares issued during the year

Total Shares in issue at the end of the year
EUR Investor Class
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year

164.4633

858.7574

Shares redeemed during the year

(22.3671)

(35,705.6997)

4,532.5864

4,390.4902

46,602.8177

69,011.4957

Total Shares in issue at the end of the year
GBP Investor Class
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year
Shares redeemed during the year
Total Shares in issue at the end of the year

1,093.2024

2,076.4105

(16,263.8227)

(24,485.0885)

31,432.1974

46,602.8177

Subscriber Shares
On a poll each holder of Subscriber Shares is entitled to one vote irrespective of the number of shares held by them and
the Subscriber Shares do not carry any right to dividends. On a winding up, the Subscriber Shares rank only for a return of
paid-up capital after the return of amounts paid up on the Shares.

Shares

Each holder of redeemable participating Shares present in person or by proxy at a general meeting of the Company is
entitled, on a poll, to one vote for each participating share held. On a winding up, each participating share carries a
preferential right to a return out of the Company of capital paid up and a right to share in any surplus assets of the relevant
Company after the return of capital paid up on the Subscriber Shares.

9. Net Asset Value per redeemable participating share

The Net Asset Value per redeemable participating share is determined as at each dealing day by dividing the Net Asset
Value of the Company by the number of Shares in issue. The Net Asset Value per participating share is shown on the
Statement of Financial Position.
In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s offering document, the prices for buying and selling Shares in the
Company are calculated by reference to the Net Asset Value per participating share. The issue price will be calculated by
reference to the Net Asset Value of each participating share on the relevant dealing day and rounding the resulting sum
upwards or downwards to the nearest whole cent. The redemption price payable on redemption of Shares will be
calculated by reference to the Net Asset Value of each participating share on the relevant dealing day and rounding the
resulting sum upwards or downwards to the nearest whole cent.
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10. Related Party Disclosure and Fees Disclosure

A Director or the Investment Manager may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement in
which the Company is interested. There is no prohibition on the Directors, or any person connected with them, holding
Shares in the Company. The nature of any such interests/transactions will be declared by the relevant Director to the Board
at the next Board meeting.
Sean Philip Peche is a Director of both the Company and the Investment Manager. He is not entitled to receive a Director’s
fee from the Company. Sean Philip Peche has a direct interest in the Company worth $78,750 (2021: $105,572) and an
indirect interest worth $558,751 (2021: $571,152) as at 30th June 2022.
John Skelly, a Director of the Company is also a principal of Carne Global Financial Services Limited (“Carne”), the parent
company of the Manager. Carne earned fees during the financial year in respect of fund governance services, MLRO
services, services in relation to maintaining the Company’s ultimate beneficial ownership register, and liquidity stress
testing services provided to the Company. These fees amounted for the financial year to $42,782 (2021: $70,489) or €40,808
(2021: €59,450) and as at 30th June 2022 Carne fees prepaid was $7,892 (2021: $3,676) or €7,528 (2021: €3,100).
The Secretarial fees expensed for the financial year ended 30th June 2022 were $11,676 (2021: $11,795) or €11,138 (2021:
€9,948) and prepaid Secretarial fees was $5,494 (2021: $6,077) or €5,241 (2021: €5,125) as at 30th June 2022.
Legal fees expensed for the financial year were $39,874 (2021: $47,352) or €38,037 (2021: €39,936) and as at 30th June 2022
the Legal fee payable was $10,484 (2021: $3,557) or €10,001 (2021: €3,000).
The non-executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for out of pocket expenditure incurred in the discharge of their
duties and annual fees subject to such rates or limits fixed by the Company in general meeting. The current total aggregate
remuneration of the non-executive Directors is not expected to exceed €22,000 per non-executive Director per annum (or
€25,000 in the case of the chair of the Board of Directors) or such other higher limits as the Directors may from time to
time determine and notify to shareholders. The executive Director is not entitled to receive any Directors' fees. The
Directors’ fees expensed for the financial year ended 30th June 2022 was $38,062 (2021: $42,080) or €36,308 (2021: €35,489)
and as at 30th June 2022 the Directors’ fee payable was $6,028 (2021: $9,152) or €5,750 (2021: €7,719). Prepaid Directors’
fee was $5,766 (2021: $Nil) or €5,500 (2021: €Nil).
The total fees payable at the end of the financial year are shown in the Statement of Financial Position and the total fees
for the financial year are shown in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Investment Manager fee – Ranmore Fund Management Limited

The fees that are payable to the Investment Manager are stipulated in the Prospectus and the Investment Management
Agreement dated 29th September 2011. In terms of these documents, Ranmore Fund Management Limited is entitled to
the following fee:
The Investment Manager will be entitled to receive a fee payable out of the assets of the Company equivalent to 0.90% per
annum of the Net Asset Value thereof. Investment Management fees will be accrued on a daily basis and paid on a monthly
basis. The Investment Manager fee expensed for the financial year end 30th June 2022 was $728,754 (2021: $738,439) and
as at 30th June 2022 the Investment Management fee payable was $52,101 (2021: $65,635).

Administrator fee – Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

Under the terms of the Administration Agreement dated 1st January 2014, Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited is entitled
to the following fees:
The Administrator is entitled to receive a fee payable out of the assets of the Company currently at the rate of 0.08% per
annum up to USD $200 million and 0.04% per annum on assets exceeding USD $200 million of the adjusted Net Asset
Value of the Company (payable before deduction of the management fees and the fees payable to the Depositary). This is
subject to a minimum fee of $7,478 per month ($89,736 per annum). Minimum fees are subject to 3% increase on 1 January
2023 and on each 1 January thereafter. The Company may also reimburse the Administrator for any out of pocket costs
and expenses properly incurred by the Administrator in the discharge of its functions in connection with the Company.
The fees of the Administrator that are based on the Net Asset Value are accrued daily and paid monthly in arrears. The
Administrator fee expense for the financial year 30th June 2022 was $92,734 (2021: $90,594) and as at 30th June 2022 the
administration fee payable was $7,728 (2021: $7,728).
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10. Related Party Disclosure and Fees Disclosure (continued)
Depositary fee – Société Générale S.A, (Dublin Branch)
Under the terms of the Depositary Agreement dated 1st August 2018, Société Générale is entitled to the following fees:
The Depositary is entitled to receive out of the net assets of the Company an annual trustee fee, accrued and calculated
on each dealing day and payable monthly in arrears, at an annual rate of up to 0.025% or 2.5bps of the net assets of the
Company (plus VAT thereon, if any) subject to an annual minimum of €33,000. The Depositary is also entitled to safekeeping
fees, including sub-custodian's fees (which will be charged at normal commercial rates) as well as agreed upon transaction
charges (which will be at normal commercial rates) and other out-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Company
(plus VAT thereon, if any). The Depositary fee expensed for the financial year ended 30th June 2022 was $61,230 (2021:
$64,103) and as at 30th June 2021 the Depositary fee payable was $14,290 (2021: $16,219).

Audit fee – Mazars Ireland (Mazars Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors)

The audit fee expense for the financial year ended 30th June 2022 was $18,719 (2021: $18,752) and at 30th June 2022 the
audit fee payable was $17,408 (2021: $19,689).

Manager fee – Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited

Effective from 22nd October 2022, Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited was appointed as Manager of the
Company. The Manager is entitled to receive a fee payable out of the assets of the Company, calculated and accrued on
each dealing day and payable monthly in arrears, of an amount up to 0.05% of the Net Asset Value (plus VAT, if any), subject
to a maximum monthly minimum fee up to €5,250 (plus VAT, if any). The Manager is also entitled to receive out of the
assets of the Company reasonable and properly vouched out-of-pocket expenses. The Manager fee expensed for the
financial year ended 30th June 2022 was $29,863 (2021: $Nil) and as at 30th June 2022 the Manager fee payable was $3,407
(2021: $Nil).

Other professional fees
The other professional fees disclosed in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income comprise of the
following expenses:
For the year ended
30th June 2022

For the year ended
30th June 2021

USD

USD

Regulatory fees

17,788

8,791

License & regulatory filing fees

15,209

14,183

Liquidity stress testing services fee

14,111

10,810

Insurance expense

9,508

6,315

MLRO fees

9,198

8,943

GICS sector classification fee

6,828

6,641

Beneficial ownership register fees

1,415

-

Director’s disbursements

360

500

Other expenses

159

1,298

Broker charges

11

-

Bank charges

10

-

4

668

74,601

58,149

General expenses
Total

The other professional fees payable disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position comprise of the following payables:
As at 30th June 2022

As at 30th June 2021

USD

USD

Oversight & monitoring services fee payable

7,315

6,289

Tax preparation fee payable

6,813

4,458

Regulatory fee payable

6,625

8,874

Transaction fee payable

4,765

4,481

563

558

FATCA fee payable
Directors disbursements payable
Total
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11. Withholding taxes

In some jurisdictions, investment income and capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. The Company shows the dividend income gross of withholding taxes on the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. The withholding tax expense for the financial year to 30th June 2022 was $476,380 (2021:
$392,557).

12. Taxation

As the Company qualifies under Section 739B of the Irish Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997 as an investment undertaking, the
Company is not liable to income tax, capital gains tax or corporation tax on its income or gains, other than on the
occurrence of a chargeable event.
A chargeable event includes any distribution to shareholders or any redemption or transfer of shares, or the ending of a
‘relevant period’. A relevant period is an eight year period beginning with the acquisition of shares by the shareholder and
each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after the preceding relevant period.
A chargeable event does not include:
• Any exchange by a Shareholder, effected by way of a bargain made at arm’s length by the Company, of the Shares in the
Company for other Shares in the Company;
• Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the Revenue
Commissioners of Ireland; or
• Any exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the Company with another Company
or Company.
A chargeable event will not occur in respect of shareholders who are neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and
who have provided the Company with a relevant declaration to that effect.
In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Company will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable
event. There were no chargeable events during the financial year under review.
Capital gains, dividends and interest may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such taxes
may not be recoverable by the Company or its shareholders.

13. Commitments and contingencies

There were no commitments and contingencies at the end of the financial year.

14. Significant Portfolio Movements

A schedule of significant portfolio movements is included at the end of the annual report. A full listing of changes in the
composition of the portfolio for the financial year is available to shareholders at no cost upon request from the
Administrator.

15. Financial risk management

The Company’s investment activities expose it to the various types of risk which are associated with the financial
instruments and markets in which it invests. The following information is not intended to be a comprehensive summary
of all risks and investors should refer to the Prospectus for a more detailed discussion of the risks inherent in investing in
the Company.
The primary responsibility of reviewing and monitoring of risk in the Company rests with the Board. However, as part of
its strategy, the Board has contractually delegated powers and responsibility for the day-to-day investment management
of the assets of the Company to the Investment Manager.
The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other financial risks arising from the financial
instruments it holds. Market risk includes price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
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15. Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Counterparty/Credit risk

The Company is exposed to a credit risk on parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement default.
The Company minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of counterparties
on recognised and reputable exchanges. As a result, they are not subject to significant amounts of credit risk.
The Investment Manager monitors the Company’s risk by establishing relationships with high quality financial institutions
and thereafter monitoring the credit worthiness of the counterparty. The Investment Manager would take appropriate
action should the credit quality of the financial institution deteriorate significantly.
Credit risk/settlement risk further arises in relation to parties with whom the Company has placed its assets in
custody/safekeeping. All of the Company’s equity securities are held by Société Générale (the “Depositary”). The Company’s
non-cash assets are maintained by the Depositary in segregated accounts, separate from the Depositary’s own assets, so
that in the event of the Depositary’s insolvency or bankruptcy the Company’s non-cash assets are segregated and protected
and this further reduces counterparty risk. While cash held by the Depositary or any depository will be identifiable as
belonging to the Company, the Company will be exposed to the credit risk of the Depositary or any depositary where cash
is deposited. Risk is managed by monitoring the credit quality of the financial institutions with which cash is held. In the
event of the insolvency of the Depositary or any depository, the Company will be treated as a general creditor of the
Depositary in relation to cash holdings of the Company.
As at 30th June 2022, Société Générale S.A (Dublin Branch) had a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of A (2021: A). The
Company also held cash as at 30th June 2021 and 2022 with Interactive Brokers. Interactive Brokers had a Standard and
Poor’s credit rating of BBB+ (2021: BBB+).
The extent of the Company’s exposure to credit risk in respect of the financial statements approximates the carrying value
of the assets as recorded in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position. There are no past due or impaired assets as at
30th June 2022.
Under IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, the Company is required to disclose both gross and net information for
financial assets that are either offset in the Statement of Financial Position or subject to an enforceable master netting
agreement or similar agreement. The disclosures set out in the tables overleaf include the financial assets and liabilities
that are subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements.
Under the terms of the master netting agreement, collateral can only be seized by a party in the event of default of the
other party. An event of default includes the following:
•

Failure by a party to make a payment when due

•

Failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment) if such failure is
not remedied by the end of the business day following the business day after notice of such failure is given to
the party

•

Bankruptcy

The Company does not offset financial assets and liabilities that are subject to master netting arrangements or similar
agreements in the Statement of Financial Position.
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15. Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Counterparty/Credit risk (continued)
Description

Gross amounts

Gross

Net amounts of

Related amounts not

Net

of recognised

amounts of

financial assets

offset in the Statement

amount

financial assets

recognised

presented in the

of Financial Position

financial

Statement of

liabilities off

Financial Position

set in the
Statement of
Financial
Position
Financial

Cash

instruments

collateral

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

S.A.

61,310,783

-

61,310,783

(61,310,783)

-

61,310,783

Total

61,310,783

-

61,310,783

(61,310,783)

-

61,310,783

Société
Générale

Amounts arising from Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents, dividends receivable and prepayments has been measured using the simplified
approach and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that these exposures have low credit
risk based on, where available, external credit ratings of the counterparties.
The Company monitors changes in credit risk on these exposures by tracking, where available, published credit ratings of
the counterparties. To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in the published ratings, the Company
supplements this by reviewing changes in bond yields, where available, together with available press and regulatory
information about counterparties.
Probabilities of default are based on historical data supplied by Standard & Poor’s for each credit rating and are
recalibrated based on best information available. Loss given default parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery
rate. However, if the asset were credit-impaired, then the estimate of loss would be based on a specific assessment of
expected cash shortfalls and on the original effective interest rate.
Due to the low credit risk of the financial assets at amortised cost the ECL was determined to be immaterial and no
impairment was recognised for the Company in the years ended 30th June 2022 and 2021.
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15. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
The Company’s assets comprise mainly realisable securities which can be readily sold. The main liability of the Company is
the redemption of any shares that investors wish to sell. Shareholders have the right to require the Company to redeem
their shares in the Company on any business day by sending, to the satisfaction of the Administrator, a completed
redemption instruction by 5pm Irish time on each business day immediately preceding the relevant dealing day, subject
to any restrictions and further details set out in the Prospectus.
The following tables detail the Company’s liquidity analysis for its financial liabilities.
Maturity Analysis as at 30th June 2022

Less than

1 to 2

2 to 3

>3

1 month

months

months

months

Total

USD

USD

USD

Financial intermediary fees payable (Advisor Class)

USD
80,970

-

-

-

USD
80,970

Investment management fees payable

52,101

-

-

-

52,101

Other professional fees payable

-

-

-

26,331

26,331

Audit fee payable

-

-

-

17,408

17,408

Depositary fees payable

-

-

-

14,290

14,290
10,484

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Legal fees payable

-

-

-

10,484

7,728

-

-

-

7,728

-

-

-

6,028

6,028

Redemption payable

4,702

-

-

-

4,702

Manager fees payable

3,407

-

-

-

3,407

148,908

-

-

74,541

223,449

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares

62,222,342

-

-

-

62,222,342

Total

62,371,250

-

-

74,541

62,445,791

Administration fees payable
Directors’ fees payable

Maturity Analysis as at 30th June 2021

Less than

1 to 2

2 to 3

>3

1 month

months

months

months

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

1,950,268

-

-

-

1,950,268

Financial intermediary fees payable (Advisor Class)

69,926

-

-

-

69,926

Investment management fees payable

65,635

-

-

-

65,635

Other professional fees payable

-

-

-

25,160

25,160

Audit fee payable

-

-

-

19,689

19,689

Depositary fees payable

-

-

-

16,219

16,219

Directors’ fees payable

-

-

-

9,152

9,152

7,728

-

-

-

7,728

-

-

-

3,557

3,557

2,093,557

-

-

73,777

2,167,334

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares

86,815,826

-

-

-

86,815,826

Total

88,909,383

-

-

73,777

88,983,160

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Amounts due to brokers

Administration fees payable
Legal fees payable
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15. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting similar financial instruments traded
in the market. The Company is exposed to market price risk arising from its investments in securities.
The Company uses a methodology known as the “Commitment Approach” to measure the global exposure of the Company
from the use of financial derivative instruments. The Commitment Approach is a methodology that converts the derivative
position into the market value of an equivalent position in the underlying asset of the derivative, to determine what is
referred to as ‘global exposure’. In accordance with the UCITS Regulations, the Company’s global exposure to derivatives
must not exceed 100% of the Company’s NAV. The Board manages the market price risk inherent in the Company’s
portfolio by ensuring full and timely access to relevant information from the Investment Manager. The Board seeks to
ensure that an appropriate proportion of the Company’s portfolio is invested in cash and readily realisable securities, which
are sufficient to meet any Company commitments that may arise. The portfolio is managed with an awareness of the
effects of adverse price movements and the Investment Manager monitors on a daily basis the overall market positions.
Major market exposures are aggregated in order to ascertain the key market risk exposures.

(d) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s functional and presentational currency is United States Dollar, but the Company
holds financial assets and financial liabilities in other currencies which can be significantly affected by currency translation
movements. The Company does not intend to hedge against foreign currency movements inherent in individual
investments.
Assets
USD

Liabilities
USD

Net exposure
USD

Australian Dollar

559,929

-

559,929

Canadian Dollar

28,586

-

Currency as at 30th June 2022

28,586

Euro

17,536,158

(78,185)

17,457,973

Japanese Yen

14,524,162

-

14,524,162

Pound Sterling
South African Rand
Total

5,152,462

(3,654)

5,148,808

101

-

101

37,801,398

(81,839)

37,719,559

Assets
USD

Liabilities
USD

Net exposure
USD

Australian Dollar

1,799,216

-

1,799,216

Canadian Dollar

2,001,867

-

2,001,867

Currency as at 30th June 2021

Euro

14,035,435

(72,721)

13,962,714

Japanese Yen

6,073,154

-

6,073,154

Pound Sterling

7,242,210

-

7,242,210

643

-

643

South African Rand
Total

31,152,525

(72,721)

31,079,804

If the value of the United States Dollar had strengthened by 10% against all of the currencies, with all other variables held
constant at the reporting date, the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and the profit for
the financial year would have decreased by $3,771,956 (2021: $3,107,980). A decrease of 10% would have an equal but
opposite effect. The calculations are based on the valuation of investments and cash balances as at the end of the financial
year and are not representative of the period as a whole.
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15. Financial risk management (continued)
(e) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in prevailing interest rates. The Company invests in equities which are non-interest bearing. Any excess cash and cash
equivalents are invested at short term market interest rates. As a result, these investments are not subject to significant
amounts of risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. As at 30th June 2022 and 30th June 2021,
the Company did not hold any interest bearing securities other than cash balances.

(f) Financial derivatives, techniques and instruments risk
The Company will limit the use of financial derivative instruments to liquid exchange traded options for efficient portfolio
management purposes, being where the Investment Manager considers the use of such techniques and instruments is
economically appropriate in order to seek to reduce risk and costs, taking into account the risk profile of the Company and
the general provisions of the UCITS Regulations. The volumes and prices of standardised exchange traded options are
transparent and they are quoted on public trading data and information systems such as Bloomberg. The Company’s use
of such financial derivative instruments shall be subject to the conditions and within the limits from time to time laid down
by the Central Bank. The Investment Manager employs a risk management process, which enables it to accurately measure,
monitor and manage the various risks associated with such financial derivative instruments.
As at 30th June 2022, the Company did not hold any financial derivative instruments. The Company purchased and sold put
options during the financial year resulting in a loss of $611,335. During the financial year ended 30th June 2021 the Company
purchased put options, resulting in a loss of $3,921,235. The market value of these put options as at 30th June 2021 was
$141,695.

16. Fair value measurement
The Company’s accounting policy on fair value measurements is discussed in note 2.2 (v) on pages 20 and 21.
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements:
Each investment which is quoted, listed or traded on or under the rules of any recognised market shall be valued by
reference to the last traded price on the relevant recognised market at the relevant valuation point. If the investment is
normally quoted, listed or traded on or under the rules of more than one recognised market, the relevant recognised
market shall be that which the Directors or the Administrator as their delegate determine provides the fairest criterion of
value for the investment. If prices for an investment quoted, listed or traded on the relevant recognised market are not
available at the relevant time or are unrepresentative in the opinion of the Directors or, as their delegate, the Investment
Manager, such investment shall be valued at such value as shall be certified with care and good faith as the probable
realisation value of the investment by a competent professional person, body, firm or corporation (appointed for such
purpose by the Directors in consultation with Investment Manager and approved for the purpose by the Depositary) or by
such other means as the Directors (in consultation with the Investment Manager and the Administrator and approved by
the Depositary) consider in the circumstances to be the probable realisation value of the investment estimated with care
and in good faith. None of the Directors, the Investment Manager, or the Administrator shall be under any liability if a price
reasonably believed by them to be the last traded price for the time being, may be found not to be such.
The table overleaf analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the period by the level in the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised.
The table overleaf shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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16. Fair value measurement (continued)
Carrying amount

Fair value

Measured at
FVTPL

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Other
financial
liabilities

Total
carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

61,310,783
61,310,783

-

-

61,310,783
61,310,783

60,849,059
60,849,059

-

461,724
461,724

61,310,783
61,310,783

Prepayments

-

40,037

-

40,037

-

40,037

-

40,037

Dividends receivable

-

325,112

-

325,112

-

-

325,112

Cash and cash equivalents

-

769,859

-

769,859

769,859

325,112
-

-

769,859

-

1,135,008

-

1,135,008

769,859

365,149

-

1,135,008

Financial intermediary fees payable (Advisor Class)

-

-

80,970

80,970

-

80,970

-

80,970

Investment management fees payable

-

-

52,101

52,101

-

52,101

-

52,101

Other professional fees payable

-

-

26,331

26,331

-

26,331

-

26,331

Audit fee payable

-

-

17,408

17,408

-

17,408

-

17,408

Depositary fees payable

-

-

14,290

14,290

-

14,290

-

14,290

Legal fees payable

-

-

10,484

10,484

-

10,484

-

10,484

Administration fees payable

-

-

7,728

7,728

-

7,728

-

7,728

Directors’ fees payable

-

-

6,028

6,028

-

6,028

-

6,028

Redemption payable

-

-

4,702

4,702

-

4,702

-

4,702

Manager fees payable

-

-

3,407

3,407

-

3,407

-

3,407

-

-

223,449

223,449

-

223,449

-

223,449

30th June 2022
Financial assets measured at fair value
Listed equity securities
Financial assets not measured at fair value

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
16. Fair value measurement (continued)
Carrying amount

Fair value

Measured at
FVTPL

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Other
financial
liabilities

Total
carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

Listed equity securities

85,839,894

-

-

85,839,894

85,839,894

-

-

85,839,894

Listed derivative securities - Options

141,695
85,981,589

-

-

141,695
85,981,589

141,695
85,981,589

-

-

141,695
85,981,589

30th June 2021
Financial assets measured at fair value

Financial assets not measured at fair value
Prepayments

-

27,027

-

27,027

-

27,027

-

27,027

Dividends receivable

-

115,638

-

115,638

-

115,638

-

115,638

Amounts due from brokers

-

2,117,584

-

2,117,584

-

2,117,584

-

2,117,584

Cash and cash equivalents

-

741,322

-

741,322

741,322

-

-

741,322

-

3,001,571

-

3,001,571

741,322

2,260,249

-

3,001,571

Amounts due to brokers

-

-

1,950,268

1,950,268

-

1,950,268

-

1,950,268

Financial intermediary fees payable (Advisor Class)

-

-

69,926

69,926

-

69,926

-

69,926

Investment management fees payable

-

-

65,635

65,635

-

65,635

-

65,635

Other professional fees payable

-

-

25,160

25,160

-

25,160

-

25,160

Audit fee payable

-

-

19,689

19,689

-

19,689

-

19,689

Depositary fees payable

-

-

16,219

16,219

-

16,219

-

16,219

Directors’ fees payable

-

-

9,152

9,152

-

9,152

-

9,152

Administration fees payable

-

-

7,728

7,728

-

7,728

-

7,728

Legal fees payable

-

-

3,557

3,557

-

3,557

-

3,557

-

-

2,167,334

2,167,334

-

2,167,334

-

2,167,334

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year ended 30th June 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
16. Fair value measurement (continued)
Level 3 investments
Valuation policy
The Company holds investments that have been categorized within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at 30th June 2022.
At the time of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, the Company held American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”)
of three Russian issuers: Gazprom, Surgutneftegaz and Sberbank, and the Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs) of a fourth
company, X5 Retail. On 3rd March 2022, the London Stock Exchange suspended the trading of the ADRs and GDRs in order
to maintain orderly markets. The valuation of these investments is based on the last available close price prior to the
suspension of trading of the shares.
2022
USD
Balance at 1st July 2022

-

Purchases

8,722,178

Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(8,260,454)

Balance at 30th June 2022

461,724

Quantitative information of significant unobservable inputs - level 3
The following table discloses the quantitative information regarding the significant unobservable inputs used in measuring
the Company’s financial instruments, categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as at 30th June 2022.

Description
Investment in equities

2022
CAD

Valuation
technique
Last available close-price

461,724

Unobservable
input
N/A

17. Efficient portfolio management
The Company will limit the use of financial derivative instruments to the purchase of liquid exchange traded put options
for efficient portfolio management purposes. Efficient portfolio management transactions relating to the assets of the
Company may be entered into with one of the following aims: hedging, reducing risk or costs, or increasing capital or
income returns. A description of the authority guidelines on efficient portfolio management, techniques and instruments
that may be used for efficient portfolio management and/or investment purposes by the Company are as set out in the
Prospectus and the risk management process (the “RMP”).

18. Soft commissions
There were no soft commission arrangements during the period.

19. Exchange rates
The exchange rates used for 30th June 2022 and 30th June 2021 are detailed below:
Currency

30th June 2022
0.6903

30th June 2021
0.8065
0.1594

Euro

0.7768
0.1410
1.0483

Hong Kong Dollar

0.1274

0.1288

Japanese Yen

0.0074

0.0090

Norwegian Krona

0.1015

0.1162

Pound Sterling
South African Rand

1.2179
0.0614

1.3829
0.0700

Swiss Franc

0.9549

1.0810

Australian Dollar
Canadian Dollar
Danish Krone
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
20. Comparative table
30th June 2022

30th June 2021

30th June 2020

USD Investor Class

$39,660,538

$56,451,154

$45,597,472

USD Advisor Class

$11,231,212

$13,039,985

$10,753,624

EUR Investor Class

€1,141,379

€1,046,410

€7,533,885

GBP Investor Class

£8,320,901

£11,630,605

£14,660,029

USD Investor Class

$305.86

$327.41

$249.91

USD Advisor Class

$158.32

$170.33

$130.66

EUR Investor Class

€251.82

€238.34

€192.01

GBP Investor Class

£264.73

£249.57

£212.43

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
shares:

Net asset value per unit:

21. Significant events
Certain changes were made to the Prospectus of the Company, which was issued on 22 nd October 2021 and included the
appointment of a Manager to the Company. Effective 22nd October 2021, the Company appointed Carne Global Fund
Managers (Ireland) Limited as Manager of the Company following the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 26th May 2021, in which the shareholders approved the appointment. Other minor changes were also made to the
Prospectus and included: a change to the Valuation Point, the introduction of delayed settlement for subscription monies,
and the ability of the Administrator to accept subscription and redemption instructions via electronic means, specifically
Calastone.
The outbreak of Coronavirus (“COVID-19”), declared by the World Health Organisation as a global pandemic, has impacted
many aspects of daily life and the global economy. Travel movements and operational restrictions were implemented by
many countries throughout 2019-2021. However in 2022 most economies globally have fully reopened and the pace of
recovery has varied from country to country. Countries and their workforce have successfully adapted to living and working
in this pandemic environment. As we move into the latter half of 2022, there continues to be potential unforeseen
economic consequences from this virus and market reaction to such consequences could be rapid, unpredictable and vary
significantly from country to country.
The Directors together with the Manager will continue to monitor business continuity and resilience processes with the
objective of mitigating any potential ongoing impact of COVID-19.
At the time of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, the Company held American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”)
of three Russian issuers: Gazprom, Surgutneftegaz and Sberbank, and the Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs) of a fourth
company, X5 Retail. For many years, the ADRs and GDRs of certain Russian issuers have been traded on foreign exchanges.
They were held in safekeeping/custody by the Depositary’s sub-custodians in the US and Europe. On 3rd March 2022, the
London Stock Exchange suspended the trading of the ADRs and GDRs in order to maintain orderly markets.
In April 2022, Russia adopted a law which effectively requires Russian issuers to delist/terminate their depositary programs.
Depositary Receipt holders were entitled to receive Russian-listed shares underlying those depositary receipts (“DRs”). The
Company opted to convert its DRs into underlying local shares. This was to be facilitated by a formal market corporate
event for the Euroclear-held DRs, and a settlement operation directly between our sub-custodian and the conversion
agent(s) for the US-held DRs.
Due to EU sanctions of 3rd June 2022, which affected assets under the control of the securities settlement system of Russia,
the National Settlements Depositor (NSD), it was not possible for the agent to complete/deposit any conversions at
Depositary’s Russian sub-custodian, Rosbank, as settlement was widely blocked at the NSD level in Russia.
As at the date of signing, the conversion of DRs into underlying shares has yet to complete. However, the Company remains
aware of developments which may facilitate such conversions. In addition, Russia has introduced measures which restrict
foreign investors’ ability to trade Russian-listed shares. In the event that its DRs are converted into underlying shares, the
Company continues to monitor any changes that would enable the sale of such shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
21. Significant events (continued)
The DRs are valued at the last traded price prior to their suspension from trading on 3rd March 2022. As at 30th June 2022,
they comprised 0.74% of the net asset value of the Company. Should they have been valued at the price of the underlying
Russian-listed shares, they would have comprised 13.0% of the net asset value of the Company.
At the date of signing the financial statements, they continue to be valued at the last traded price prior to their suspension
of trading. They comprise 0.82% of the net asset value of the Company, based on the last published Company net asset
value prior to signing the financial statements. Should they be valued at the price of the underlying Russian-listed shares,
they would comprise 14.5% of the Company’s net asset value, based on the last published Company net asset value prior
to signing the financial statements.
There were no other significant events during the year.

22. Events after the financial year
There were no material subsequent events occurring after the reporting date.

23. Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 7th September 2022.
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 30th June 2022
NAME

POSITION MARKET VALUE (USD) % OF NAV

Transferable Securities

98.5

Equity Investments by country of domicile

98.5

AUSTRALIA

0.9

Sandfire Resources

181,071

556,180

BRAZIL

0.9
4.5

Petroleo Brasil-SP

264,000

2,806,320

230,000

28,586

0.0

Total SE T

64,000

3,379,545

13.3
5.4

Renault SA

84,000

2,094,981

3.4

Société Générale SA

68,000

1,489,202

2.4

BNP Paribas

28,000

1,331,635

2.1

Bayerische Motoren Werke AG

21,500

1,655,754

4.2
2.7

Covestro AG

27,500

950,801

1.5

126,000

2,421,526

8.2
3.9

1,805,000

1,434,617

2.3

471,000

1,272,313

2.0

CANADA

0.0

Pure Gold Mining Inc
FRANCE

GERMANY

GREAT BRITAIN
Associated British Foods Plc
ITV Plc
Ashmore Group Plc
IRELAND

2.0

AIB Group Plc

540,000

1,230,721

2,000

243,560

20,000

JAPAN
ITALY
Sumitomo
Mitsui
Financial Group Inc CMN 100,000
Assicurazioni
Generali

2,148,600 2.6

0.4

67,000

1,990,085

22.9
3.2

1.8
1,513,220 1.8

Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group
Yamaha
JAPAN Motor Co Ltd CMN
Asahi
Group
Holdings
Ltd
Shionogi
& Co
Ltd
Japan
Petroleum
Exploration CMN
T&D Holdings
CMN
Nippon Television Network CMN
T&D
Holdings CMN
NETHERLANDS
Sumitomo
KoninklijkeMetal
AholdMining
NV Co Ltd
Mizuno
Corp
Aegon NV
Inpex Corp
TDK
Corp CMN
RUSSIAN
FEDERATION
Taiheiyo
CorpADR
GazpromCement
Pao –Spon
Sberbank - Sponsored ADR
KAZAKHSTAN
Lukoil PJSC

370,000

1,988,125

3.2

3.3

90,000

1,648,238

2.6

30,000

1,876,216 2.3

42,000

1,375,299

2.2

100,000

853,331

48,000

1,133,301

1.8

140,500

1,249,280

2.0

5.9

100,000

1,196,361

1.9

110,000

2,997,905 3.6

30,000

939,261

1.5

630,000

1,877,640 2.3

48,000

827,787

1.3

72,000

779,697

1.3

4.8

24,000

740,801

1.2

300,000

1,618,800 2.0

30,000

447,530

0.7

100,000

1,138,000 1.4

16,000

1,188,160 1.4
20,000

518,800

1.0

Nac Kazatomprom JSC-GDR
SOUTH AFRICA
Anglogold Ashanti-Spon ADR (US)
u
ADR (US)
Sibanye-Stillwater
Ltd- ADR
UNITED KINGDOM

2.0
0.4

ISRAEL
Check
CheckPoint
PointSoftware
SoftwareTech
Tech

4.5

4.0
70,000

2,064,300 2.5

146,896

1,270,650 1.5
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 30th June 2022 (continued)
NAME

POSITION

MARKET VALUE

% of NAV

Transferable Securities (continued)

98.5

Equity Investments (continued)

98.5

NETHERLANDS

5.1

Aegon NV

410,000

1,774,311

2.9

ABN AMRO Group NV-CVA

123,000

1,381,668

2.2

RUSSIAN FEDERATION
Gazprom PAO-Spon ADR

401,000

233,141

0.8
0.4

Surgutneftegaz-SP ADR

371,700

174,699

0.3

75,000

39,855

0.1

309,700

14,029

0.0

2,200,000

1,754,225

2.8

65,000

331,310

0.5

UNITED STATES
CoreCivic Inc

290,000

3,221,900

32.1
5.2

Sally Beauty Holdings Inc

X5 Retail Group NV REGS GDR
Sberbank - Sponsored ADR
SPAIN

3.3

Banco De Sabadell SA
Telefonica SA

180,389

2,150,237

3.5

Skechers USA Inc

57,000

2,028,060

3.3

Qualcomm Inc

15,000

1,916,100

3.1

LyondellBasell Industries

21,000

1,836,660

3.0

Flextronics International Ltd

113,000

1,635,110

2.6

Harmony Gold MNG-Spon ADR

510,000

1,596,300

2.6

Walgreens Boots Alliance Inc

42,000

1,591,800

2.6

Sanmina-SCI Corporation CMN

35,000

1,425,550

2.3

Micron Technology Inc

23,000

1,271,440

2.0

Cleveland-Cliffs Inc

30,000

461,100

0.7

United States Steel Corp

25,000

447,750

0.7

Pzena Investment Management

44,800

295,232

0.5

61,310,783

98.5

TOTAL EQUITY INVESTMENTS
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 30th June 2022 (continued)
NAME

POSITION

SUB TOTAL
Net current assets
TOTAL

MARKET VALUE

% of NAV

61,310,783

98.5

911,559

1.5

62,222,342

100

All securities are transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange listing.

ANALYSIS OF PORTFOLIO
Transferable securities admitted to official stock exchange listing

99%
1%

Net current assets

100%

Total net assets
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SIGNIFICANT PORTFOLIO MOVEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
List of top buys and sells during the period 1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022 (unaudited)
MAJOR PURCHASES

USD

MAJOR SALES

USD

Petroleo Brasil

7,557,349 Pfizer Inc

(8,973,353)

Pfizer Inc

7,540,765 HP Inc

(6,867,811)

Walgreens Boots Alliance Inc

5,322,084 Petroleo Brasil

(5,490,112)

Glencore Plc

3,933,883 Regeneron Pharmaceuticals

(4,997,709)

Total Se T

3,710,247 Glencore Plc

(4,771,539)

HP Inc

3,567,129 Franklin Resources Inc

(4,673,014)

ITV Plc

3,503,595 Marathon Oil Corp

(3,874,766)

Kohl's Corp

3,467,638 Kohl's Corp

(3,853,869)

LyondellBasell Industries

3,403,543 Check Point Software Technologies Ltd

(3,759,774)

CoreCivic Inc

3,279,953 Thungela Resources Ltd

(3,548,215)

Sberbank - Sponsored ADR

3,238,924 Walgreens Boots Alliance Inc

(3,509,208)

Sally Beauty Holdings Inc

3,193,926 Bayer AG

(3,482,275)

Telefonica SA

3,120,700 H & R Block Inc CMN

(3,407,897)

Renault SA

3,090,554 Nu Skin Enterprises Inc

(3,303,989)

Associated British Foods Plc

3,048,870 The Mosaic Co

(3,163,054)

Bayer AG

2,969,551 Telefonica SA

(2,987,060)

Gazprom PAO-Spon ADR

2,805,531 Pultegroup Inc

(2,959,332)

Skechers USA Inc

2,773,662 Teck Resources Ltd

(2,945,803)

Molson Coors Beverage Co

2,769,337 Janus Henderson Group Plc

(2,907,147)

Western Union Co

2,609,054 Comstock Resources Inc

(2,805,104)

Marathon Oil Corp

2,438,648 Mitsubishi Corporation

(2,682,699)

Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group Inc

2,341,305 Sibanye-Stillwater Ltd-ADR

(2,649,844)

Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group

2,247,700 Molson Coors Beverage Co

(2,615,540)

Mitsubishi Corporation

2,204,781 Sumitomo Metal Mining Co Ltd

(2,593,611)

Aegon NV

2,183,139 Gilead Sciences Inc

(2,542,774)

Harmony Gold MNG-Spon ADR

2,169,781 Fedex Corp

(2,518,357)

Fedex Corp

2,134,542 Canadian Natural Resources

(2,489,642)

Franklin Resources Inc

2,066,249 Anglo American Plc

(2,355,159)

Canadian Natural Resources

2,053,322 Range Resources Corp

(2,342,644)

Mobile Telesystems-SP ADR

2,053,166 Western Union Co

(2,310,808)
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SIGNIFICANT PORTFOLIO MOVEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)
List of top buys and sells during the period 1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022 (unaudited) (continued)
MAJOR PURCHASES

USD

MAJOR SALES

USD

Qualcomm Inc

2,051,788 Eutelsat Communications

(2,216,234)

Ebay Inc

1,981,817 Micron Technology Inc

(2,216,029)

Altria Group Inc

1,934,364 Inpex Corp

(2,106,529)

Yamaha Motor Co Ltd CMN

1,918,956 KB Home

(2,050,439)

Bayerische Motoren Werke AG

1,874,801 Deutsche Bank AG

(2,027,416)

Surgutneftegaz-SP ADR

1,857,772 Total Se T

(2,026,210)

Ashmore Group Plc

1,841,386 Helmerich & Payne Inc

(2,004,091)

Invesco Ltd

1,735,522 ABN AMRO Group NV

(1,881,962)

Metlife Inc

1,673,752 Altria Group Inc

(1,879,093)

Comstock Resources Inc

1,599,112 Metlife Inc

(1,820,440)

Ebay Inc

(1,763,594)

The buys and sells represent aggregate purchases of a security exceeding 1% of the total value of purchases for the
financial year and aggregate disposals greater than 1% of the total value of sales.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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John Skelly (Irish Non-Executive – Independent of the
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Lesley Williams (Irish Non-Executive – Independent, as
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Harcourt Road
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Ireland

Company Secretary
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Haddington Road
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Ireland
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Ireland
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Agent
Ranmore Fund Management Limited
Coveham House
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Cobham, KT11 3EP
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Effective from 22 October 2021
Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited
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Iveagh Court
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www.ranmorefunds.com
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APPENDIX 1 – REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE (UNAUDITED)
The European Union Directive 2011/61/EU as implemented in Ireland by S.I. No. 257/2013 European Union (Alternative
Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013, requires alternative investment fund managers (“AIFMs”) to establish and
apply remuneration policies and practices that promote sound and effective risk management, and do not encourage risk
taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile of the Fund.
To that effect, Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited (“the Manager”), has implemented a remuneration policy that
applies to all alternative investment funds (“AIFs”) for which the Manager acts as AIFM (the “Remuneration Policy”) and
covers all staff whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the Manager or the AIFs it manages
(“Identified Staff of the Manager”). The Remuneration Policy also applies to all UCITS funds for which the Manager acts as
manager. In accordance with the Remuneration Policy, all remuneration paid to Identified Staff of the Manager can be
divided into:
•

Fixed remuneration (payments or benefits without consideration of any performance criteria); and

•

Variable remuneration (additional payments or benefits depending on performance or, in certain cases, other
contractual criteria) which is not based on the performance of the Fund.

The Manager has designated the following persons as Identified Staff of the Manager:
1.

The Designated Persons;

2.

Each of the Manager’s directors;

3.

Compliance Officer;

4.

Risk Officer;

5.

Money Laundering Reporting Officer;

6.

Chief Executive Officer;

7.

Chief Operating Officer;

8.

Head of Compliance with responsibility for Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing; and

9.

All members of the investment committee.

The Manager has a business model, policies, and procedures which by their nature do not promote excessive risk taking
and take account of the nature, scale and complexity of the Manager and the Fund. The Remuneration Policy is designed
to discourage risk taking that is inconsistent with the risk profile of the Fund and the Manager is not incentivised or
rewarded for taking excessive risk.
The Manager has determined not to constitute a separate remuneration committee and for remuneration matters to be
determined through the Manager’s Compliance and AML Committee.
The Compliance and AML Committee is responsible for the ongoing implementation of the Manager’s remuneration
matters and will assess, oversee, and review the remuneration arrangements of the Manager as well as that of the
delegates as relevant, in line with the provisions of the applicable remuneration requirements.
The Manager’s parent company is Carne Global Financial Services Limited (“Carne”). Carne operates through a shared
services organisational model which provides that Carne employs the majority of staff and enters into inter-group
agreements with other Carne Group entities within the group to ensure such entities are resourced appropriately.
Additionally, the Manager has a number of directly employed staff. The one non-executive independent director is not an
employee of the Manager. Four of the Designated Persons are directly employed by the Manager. The remainder of the
identified staff are employees of Carne, or employees of another entity within the Carne Group, and are remunerated
directly based on their contribution to Carne Group as a whole. In return for the services of each of the Carne Identified
Staff, the Manager pays an annual staff recharge to Carne (the “Staff Recharge”).
The non-executive independent director is paid a fixed remuneration and each other Identified Staff member’s
remuneration is linked to their overall individual contribution to the Carne Group, with reference to both financial and nonfinancial criteria and not directly linked to the performance of specific business units or targets reached or the performance
of the Fund.
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APPENDIX 1 – REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE (UNAUDITED) (continued)
The aggregate of the total Staff Recharge and the remuneration of the independent non-executive director is €1,762,906
paid to twenty one individuals for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Manager has also determined that, on the basis
of number of sub-funds / net asset value of the Fund relative to the number of sub-funds / assets under management, the
portion of this figure attributable to the Fund is €2,104.
The Fund does not pay any fixed or variable remuneration to Identified Staff of the Investment Manager.
The Remuneration Policy and the Manager’s remuneration practices and procedures were amended during the financial
year. Also, the committee responsible for remuneration matters for the Manager has changed to the Compliance and AML
Committee, a Committee of the Manager’s Board.
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APPENDIX 1 – REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE (UNAUDITED) (continued)
The Manager was appointed on 22nd October 2021. Prior to the Manager’s appointment, the Company’s Identified Staff
included two Designated Persons who were responsible for overseeing and reporting on the six managerial functions
(PCF-39A-F) outlined in the Central Bank of Ireland’s Fund Management Companies Guidance Paper (“CP86”). Carne Global
Financial Services Limited had been engaged to provide Designated Persons’ services.
Total remuneration paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30th June 2022 to Carne Global Financial Services
Limited in relation to the provision of professional activities which had a material impact on the risk profile of the Company:
Fixed remuneration

€12,903

Variable remuneration

€

Total remuneration

€12,903

Number of Identified Staff

-

2

The UCITS Regulations requires the disclosure of remuneration paid by the Company itself to categories of staff whose
professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the Company. The Company has no employees.
However, under the ESMA Guidelines, the Company’s Directors would qualify as Identified Staff.
Total remuneration paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30th June 2022 to Directors:
Fixed remuneration

€34,000

Variable remuneration

€

Total remuneration

€34,000

Number of Identified Staff

-

3

The fixed fee of the independent Directors is commercially negotiated and disclosed in the Prospectus of the Company.
While certain Directors are paid a fixed annual fee for their services to the Company, the Director employed by the
Investment Manager is not paid any fees for his services as a Director of the Company.
The definition of Identified Staff within the ESMA Guidelines also includes the categories of staff at the entity to which
investment management activities have been delegated and whose professional activities have a material impact on the
risk profile of the UCITS. The Company delegates investment management to Ranmore Fund Management Ltd. However,
the ESMA Guidelines state that the remuneration disclosures only apply to payments made to Identified Staff at the
delegate as compensation for those specific investment management activities on behalf of the Company - no individuals
at Ranmore Fund Management Ltd are remunerated directly by the Company. Under the ESMA Guidelines there is a
requirement to delegate investment management activities only to entities subject to regulatory requirements on
remuneration that are equally as effective as those applicable under the ESMA Guidelines (or, where no such regulatory
requirements are in place, appropriate contractual arrangements must be put in place with the entity to ensure there is
no circumvention of the remuneration rules). Ranmore Fund Management Ltd is subject to regulatory requirements on
remuneration that are considered equally as effective as those applicable under the UCITS Remuneration Code.
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APPENDIX 2 – EU TAXONOMY DISCLOSURE (UNAUDITED)

The following statement has been included to comply with the requirement under Article 7 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation
(EU) 2020/853 (the “Taxonomy Regulation”) which requires the Investment Manager to state that the investments
underlying the Company do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities, as
defined by the Taxonomy Regulation.
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DISCLAIMER
GICS Classification
The Global Industry Classification Standard (“GICS”) was developed by and is the exclusive property and a service mark of
MSCI Inc. (“MSCI”) and Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“S&P”) and is licensed for use by
Ranmore Fund Management Limited. Neither MSCI, S&P nor any third party involved in making or compiling the GICS or
any GICS classifications makes any express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such standard or
classification (or the results to be obtained by the use thereof), and all such parties hereby expressly disclaim all warranties
of originality, accuracy, completeness, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect to any of such
standard or classification. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall MSCI, S&P, any of their affiliates or any
third party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any GICS classifications have any liability for any direct, indirect,
special, punitive, consequential or any other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such
damages.
MSCI
Copyright MSCI 2021. Unpublished. All Rights Reserved. This information may only be used for your internal use, may not
be reproduced and disseminated in any form and may not be used to create any financial instruments or products or any
indices. None of this information is intended to constitute investment advice or a recommendation to make (or refrain
from making) any kind of investment decision and may not be relied on as such. Historical data and analysis should not be
taken as an indication or guarantee of any future performance, analysis, forecast or prediction. This information is provided
on an “as is” basis and the user of this information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made
of this information. Neither MSCI, any of its affiliates or any other person involved in or related to compiling, computing or
creating this information makes any express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such information or
the results to be obtained by the use thereof, and MSCI, its affiliates and each such other person hereby expressly disclaim
all warranties (including, without limitation, all warranties of originality, accuracy, completeness, timeliness, noninfringement, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose) with respect to this information. Without limiting any
of the foregoing, in no event shall MSCI, any of its affiliates or any other person involved in or related to compiling,
computing or creating this information have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, punitive, consequential
or any other damages (including, without limitation, lost profits) even if notified of, or if it might otherwise have anticipated,
the possibility of such damages.
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